RECEIVED

Jun 06 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
Court of Common Pleas
Fairfield County**

**The Honorable DeAndrea Gist Benjamin
Presiding Judge, South Carolina Business Court**

Case No. 2021-000944

**Blythewood Oil Co., Inc.
Appellant,**

vs.

**Shinda Singh, Five Rivers, Inc.,
and Singh, Inc.
Respondent.**

FINAL INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**s/Tony R. Megna
8906 Two Notch Rd
Columbia, South Carolina, 29223
SC Bar No. 3930
tmegna@gmail.com
Attorney for Appellant**

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict in favor of Appellant because Respondent Shinda Singh admitted he formed a general partnership in 2007 with Kabal Singh, Singh, Inc., and Five Rivers, Inc. to own and operate two convenience stores in Columbia, SC, and that the partnership failed to pay Appellant for deliveries of gasoline. As such, all partners of the Singh-Singh partnership are jointly and severally liable for the unpaid invoices for gasoline delivered by Appellant. (Page 13-18)
- II. The trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict in favor of Appellant because Respondent admittedly failed to notify Appellant of any change in ownership, lease agreements, operational changes, or otherwise to either the Hardscrabble Road or Percival Road AM/PM stores throughout their business dealings between 2007 and March 2010 thus making Respondent, as a general partner of the Singh-Singh partnership, jointly and severally liable for the unpaid invoices for gasoline delivered by Appellant. (Page 19-24)
- III. The trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict in favor of Appellant because the law of estoppel and agency prohibits the Respondents from asserting any defense to payment of the funds owed to Blythewood Oil for unpaid gasoline delivered to the Hardscrabble and Percival Road convenience stores. (Page 24-26)
- IV. The trial court erred in concluding that Appellant, Blythewood Oil, Inc. was not entitled to recovery from the Respondents pursuant to a claim of unjust enrichment based on quantum meruit, quasi-contract, or implied contract by law. (Page 26-27)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The dispute between the parties arises from Respondents' non-payment of gasoline deliveries by Appellant Blythewood Oil, Inc. to two Columbia, South Carolina convenience stores ("AM/PM Food Marts," the first located at 4225 Hardscrabble Road and the second located at 2409 Percival Road) owned and operated by Respondents as an unnamed South Carolina general partnership.¹ The Appellant specifically pled, in detail, the formation and the operations of the *unnamed* partnership in the 2014 Third Amended Complaint granted by the

¹ S.C. code Section provides" "Partnership" defined; application to limited partnerships. A "partnership" is an association of two or more persons to carry on as co-owners a business for profit and includes, for all purposes of the laws of this State, a registered limited liability partnership.

Court. (R. pp. 235-271 ¶ 1-4,10-11,13-14,17-18,24-25,35-37, 39-50, 52-56, 59-61, 65-75, 77-84, and 87 (paragraphs 37-93 were corrected to coordinate the correct numbers on pages 9-19). In addition, at trial, Respondent Shinda Singh admitted he was a partner in the same unnamed South Carolina partnership and specifically testified that the partnership had no formal name (R. pp. 356 In 16-25, 376 In 1-16 (2019 Trial)). According to the trial testimony of Respondent Shinda Singh, the general partnership was composed of Respondent Shinda Singh, Respondent Kabal Singh (dismissed before trial), and two single-member LLCs owned by Respondent Shinda Singh – Respondents Five Rivers, Inc. and Singh, Inc. (R. pp. 376 In 8-19 (2019 Trial)). Appellant filed its Complaint in Fairfield County in 2012 for the unpaid portion of the gasoline delivered to the two stores owned by the Singh-Singh partnership (R. pp. 42-64). The case was eventually tried on the Third Amended Complaint (R. pp. 235-271). As the admitted partnership has no formal name, and to avoid confusion, Appellant has referred to the partnership that is the subject of dispute between the parties herein by the names of the two individual partners, Shinda Singh and Kabal Singh, i.e., the "Singh-Singh" partnership. Finally, in the 2017 trial, counsel for the Respondents specifically and repeatedly admitted the existence of the unnamed partnership and stated to the trial court that the "law is correct, [liability] is joint and several but he didn't sue the partnership." (R. 2nd Supp. 06 In 11-15). Again, there was admittedly no name of a partnership to sue. Moreover, section 33-41-370(1) South Carolina Code of Laws 1976 clearly states that *all partners* are liable: (1) Jointly and severally for everything chargeable to the partnership under §§ 33-41-350 and 33-41-360. Thus, the argument circumvents the real issue which is the Respondents' failure to name the association or partnership in the first instance. Therefore, the Appellant proceeded against the Respondents on the theory that they "hid" the name of the partnership or business association, in which case each of them could be held

personally and individually liable [*Broom v. Marshall*, 328 S.E.2d 639, 284 S.C. 530 (Ct. App. 1984) citing *Guilford Builders supply Co., v. Reynolds*, 249 N.C. 612, 107 S.E. 2d 80 (1959)] as well as on the basis that a partnership contract between and among Respondents existed whereby each partner is liable jointly. If an agent did not disclose his principal when making a contract with a party, the party, upon discovering the principal, may hold either the agent or the principal liable. See *Goodale v. Page*, 92 S.C. 413, 416, 75 S.E. 700, 701 (1912). In 2015, the Supreme Court assigned exclusive jurisdiction of the case to the Honorable DeAndra G. Benjamin as complex litigation. (R. pp. 06-07). The parties initially tried the case by a jury on November 13, 2017 and ended on November 17, 2017. The trial court refused to direct a verdict in favor of the Plaintiff (Blythewood Oil), and a jury found in favor of the Defendants on all causes of action except for unjust enrichment, for which the trial court declared a mistrial. (R. pp. 38-40). The Plaintiff filed a motion for reconsideration, which the trial court did not rule upon until it issued two Orders after the non-jury trial on the remaining unjust enrichment cause of action. (R. pp. 08-37, 65-148). At the parties' request, the Court heard the "unjust enrichment" issue on September 23, 2019, as a non-jury trial. At the non-jury trial, and with the parties' consent, Plaintiff's Exhibits 1-12 and Defendants' Exhibits 1-4 were entered into evidence as to all matters in the Amended Complaint and e-filed by the Clerk of Court on September 23, 2019. (R. pp. 8-22,42-64,188-234,273-324,450-524,532-538). At the conclusion of the presentation of all evidence by the parties, all parties made motions for verdicts based on the evidence presented at the September 23, 2019 trial. (R. pp. 08-09). The Court took all motions under advisement. (R. pp. 08-09). On July 17, 2020, the trial court issued an Order finding that Plaintiff was not entitled to recovery on any cause of action. The essence of the Court's reasoning was that:

a. In November 2008 the two AM/PM Food Mart convenience stores were leased by Respondents Five Rivers, Inc. and Singh, Inc. (R. pp. 376 ln 8-19 (2019 Trial)) to two LLCs owned by Jesse Singh, son of Singh-Singh partner Kabal Singh. (R. pp. 08, 11 ¶ 8, 12 ¶ 9). The individual general partners of the Singh-Singh partnership (Shinda Singh and Kabal Singh) were not parties to these leases. (R. pp. 450-452, 522-524). Moreover, and importantly, Respondent Shinda Singh repeatedly admitted at both trials that Appellant Blythewood Oil, Inc. was never notified nor had any notice whatsoever that the AM/PM Food Mart stores were "leased" to these LLCs in 2008 in the first instance. (R. pp. 08 ¶ 9-11, 375 ln 22-25, 376 ln 1-7, 377 ln 1-14, 378 ln 25 (2019 Trial)) (R. 2nd Supp. 04 ln 21-25, 05 ln 1-11); and

b. In March 2009, the son (Jessee Singh) of one of the partners (Kabal Singh) signed credit applications and "guarantees" of payment with Appellant. Jessee Singh signed the documents as the "President" of the AM/PM Food Mart convenience stores. (R. pp. 450-452, 522-524).

The Court concluded that the foregoing matters were, in effect, intervening factors that placed Appellant on notice that it was dealing with Jesse Singh alone and not the Respondents. However, Appellant delivered gasoline to the same AM/PM Food Mart convenience stores even though Respondent Shinda Singh admitted at trial that Appellant was never notified nor had any notice that the AM/PM Food Mart stores were "leased" to these LLCs in 2008 in the first instance. (R. pp. 08, 11 ¶ 08, 12 ¶ 09, 11, 375 ln 25, 376 ln 1-7 & 25, 377 ln 1-14 (2019 Trial)) (R. 2nd Supp. 04 ln 21-25, 05 ln 1-11). This admission, taken with the undisputed admission that all Respondents were general partners of the "Singh-Singh" partnership (R. pp. 376 ln 8-19 (2019 Trial) and (R. pp. 08, 11 ¶ 01, 12 ¶ 11-13), and that the partnership between and among Respondents was admittedly unnamed from its initial start-up provides but only one reasonable

factual and legal conclusion. All Respondents are individually liable for gasoline delivery to the two convenience stores by Appellant Blythewood Oil, Inc. South Carolina partnership law is clear and unambiguous. S.C. Code Section 33-41-50 states:

Liability for wrongful act or omission of partner. "When, by any wrongful act or omission of any partner acting in the ordinary course of the business of the partnership or with the authority of his copartners, loss or injury is cause to any person, not being a partner in the partnership, or any penalty is incurred, the partnership is liable therefor to the same extent as the partner so acting or omitting to act.

On July 20, 2021, the trial court filed a second Order that corrected its first Order's factual findings to parallel the Appellant's contention and conclusions in this appeal. (R. pp. 23-37). In its' second Order, the trial court correctly noted that in March 2009, Jessee Singh, in fact, completed the two Commercial/Wholesale Credit Applications as "President" ((R. pp. 23, 25 (Form 4 Order)) of the same AM/PM Food Mart stores written as the "Firm Name," on the agreements and further correctly finding that the addresses on the two "Commercial/Wholesale Credit Applications" were precisely the same as the addresses and locations Appellant Blythewood Oil Inc. had delivered gasoline since the Singh-Singh partnership originated in 2007. Specifically, the trial court found in its Orders dated July 17, 2020 (R. pp. 08-22) as modified by its Order dated July 20, 2021 (R. pp. 23-37) that:

1. Shinda Singh and Kabal Singh entered a verbal partnership to purchase and operate the AM/PM Food Marts at Hardscrabble Road and Percival Road (R. pp. 23, 28 ¶ 1).
2. Respondents Singh, Inc. and Five Rivers, Inc. "leased" the stores to Jesse Singh, the son of one of the partners (R. pp. 23, 29 ¶ 8-9),
3. Shinda Singh did not provide Blythewood Oil with copies, nor any notice whatsoever, of the (2008) leases as evidenced by Plaintiff's exhibit 6. ((R. pp. 08, 12 ¶ 8-9, and 11, 23, 29 ¶ 8-9, 11).

4. In March 2009, Jesse Singh completed two Commercial/Wholesale Credit Applications provided by Blythewood Oil for the purchase of gasoline listing with the same name (AM/PM Food Marts) and addresses (4225 Hardscrabble Road and 2409 Percival Road) as the "Firm Name" and himself as the President." (R. pp. 23-24, 29 ¶ 12-13, 33).

The amount in controversy, in this case, is \$449,519.07 in unpaid invoices (R. pp. 462-521), prejudgment interest of 1.5% per month, as well as attorneys' fees and costs as noted on the two Commercial/Wholesale Credit Applications. In the alternative, Plaintiff is entitled to prejudgment interest allowed by SC Code Ann. 34-31-20, costs, and for such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. Defendants were served with the Notice of Appeal on August 27, 2021 (R. pp. 149-187).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried by a jury, the jurisdiction of this Court extends to the correction of errors of law. Factual findings of the jury are disregarded when a review of the record discloses that there is no evidence which reasonably supports the jury's findings. *Odom v. Weathersbee*, 225 S.C. 253 (1954). In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings. The rule is the same whether the judge's findings are made with or without a reference. The judge's findings are equivalent to a jury's findings in a law action. *Chapman v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 263 SC 565 (1975)." *Townes Assocs. v. City of Greenville*, 266 SC 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976) (emphasis added).

FACTS

In 2007, Respondents Shinda Singh and Kabal Singh, Five Rivers, Inc., Singh, Inc., entered verbally into a general partnership to own and operate two convenience stores in Columbia, SC. (R. pp. 356 ln 21-25, 376 ln 1-16 (2019 Trial)). By agreement of the parties prior to trial, all other defendants were dismissed. The first convenience store, located at 4225 Hardscrabble Road, was titled in the name of *Five Rivers, Inc.*, a single-member LLC owned by Respondent Shinda Singh. (R. pp. 458-461). The second convenience store was located at 2409 Percival Road and titled in the name of *Singh, Inc.*, a single-member LLC also formed and owned by Respondent Shinda Singh. (R. pp. 453-457). Respondent Shinda Singh admitted at trial that he created the two single-member LLCs to hold the titles to the Hardscrabble and Percival Road property owned and operated by the Singh-Singh partnership to prevent Kabal Singh's judgment creditors in Illinois from placing liens on the Hardscrabble and Percival Road

real property and improvements, and thus the properties would not be subject to seizure by Kabal Singh's creditors. (R. pp. 386, 387 In 1-19, 390 In 7-10 (2019 Trial), 453-461).

In 2013, Kabal Singh, one of the individual partners of the Singh-Singh partnership, filed a lawsuit in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas (Case number 2013-CP-40-0050) against the Respondents in this appeal (Shinda Singh, Shinda Singh, Inc. and Five Rivers, Inc.), i.e., the ("Richland County lawsuit"). (R. pp. 42-64). The lawsuit's essence centered on the details of the ownership, operation, formation, and development of the Singh-Singh partnership and the disputes between the parties. (R. pp. 42-64). One of the most relevant points to the present case in the Richland County partnership's dissolution lawsuit between Kabal and Shinda Singh is Shinda Singh's admissions on his answers to interrogatories, averring that \$540,000.00 was owed by the partnership to Blythewood Oil for fuel sold at retail by the two AM/PM Food Mart stores. (R. pp. 217-234 (18, par. 41)). Respondent also admitted this information in the September 2019 trial. (R. pp. 377 In 15-25, 379 In 1-8 & 15-25, 380 In 7-25, 381 In 1-9 (2019 Trial)). Yet, Shinda Singh disingenuously denied he had any knowledge of the unpaid invoices for gasoline due to Appellant, and thus, according to Shinda Singh, the Singh-Singh partnership was and is not liable for the monies due to the Appellant. (R. pp. 362 In 1-6, 372 In 18-25, 374 In 11-22 (2019 Trial)).

At the September 23, 2019 trial, the focus of the defense of the Respondents was that they have no liability for payments of the monies owed to Blythewood Oil, Inc. because the Hardscrabble Road and Percival Road stores were "leased" to the son of Shinda Singh's partner, Kabal Singh, in 2008. Shinda Singh also denied he had any knowledge of the unpaid invoices for gasoline due to Appellant, and thus, the Singh-Singh partnership was not liable for the monies due to the Appellant. (R. pp. 362 In 1-6, 372 In 18-25, 374 In 11-22 (2019 Trial)). However, in

the same testimony, Shinda Singh specifically admitted that Appellant Blythewood Oil, Inc., nor anyone else, was provided notice of the 2008 purported leases of the convenience stores, by lease or otherwise. (R. pp. 23, 29 ¶ 11, 375 ln 25, 376 ln 1-7 & 25, 377 ln 1-14 (2019 Trial)). The representative of Blythewood Oil, Inc. (Larry Sharpe, Jr.) testified that Appellant provided deliveries of gasoline to both the Hardscrabble Road and Percival Road AM/PM stores from 2007 until January 2010 and confirmed that Blythewood Oil, Inc. was never informed of any lease transfers of ownership of the two convenience stores to "Jesse" Singh, or anyone else. (R. pp. 412 ln 21-24, 413 ln 17-25, 414 ln 1-20). Mr. Sharpe's testimony about the amounts owed for the unpaid gasoline was provided without objection and admitted as uncontroverted evidence at trial. (R. pp. 401 ln 9-22, 402 ln 1-19, 462-521). Furthermore, Mr. Sharpe testified "Jessee" Singh (son of the partner Kabal Singh) signed guarantees of payment to Blythewood Oil, Inc. in March 2009 as the "President" of the Hardscrabble Road and Percival Road AM/PM Food Mart convenience stores (R. pp. 450-452, 522-524), utilizing the same addresses of Hardscrabble Road and Percival Road that were formed, operated, and owned by the Singh-Singh partnership in 2007. (R. pp. 450-452, 522-524).

Importantly, *in its Order dated July 20, 2021*, the trial court found that the son of Kabal, Jesse Singh, did, in fact, lease the stores from Five Rivers, Inc. and Singh, Inc. as President of the AM/PM Food Mart stores located at 2409 Percival Road and 4225 Hardscrabble Road. (R. pp. 23, 29 ¶ 9). The trial court also found that Kabal Singh and Jesse Singh operated the AM/PM Food Mart stores located at 2409 Percival Road and 4225 Hardscrabble Road before the lease agreements were signed in 2008 (R. pp. 23, 29 ¶ 7). *Moreover, the trial court found that Jesse Singh did, in fact, sign agreements on March 18, 2009, to purchase gasoline from Blythewood Oil and guaranteed payment for that gasoline as President of the AM/PM Food Mart stores*

located at 2409 Percival Road and 4225 Hardscrabble Road for these same stores doing business under the same names at the same addresses. (R. pp. 23, 29 ¶ 12-13).

In its Orders, the trial court noted that Blythewood Oil conducted investigations of the matters by informing the South Carolina Attorney General's Office and cooperating with their investigating official, Mr. Pete Logan. (R. pp. 23, 30 ¶ 17-18). However, as the Court specifically found in its July 2021 Order, these investigations began in March 2010, *two months after the final deliveries of gasoline to the Hardscrabble Road and Percival Road convenience stores. (R. pp. 23, 30 ¶ 16-17).*

ARGUMENTS

I

The trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict in favor of Appellant because Respondent Shinda Singh admitted he formed the general partnership in 2007 with Kabal Singh, Singh, Inc., and Five Rivers, Inc. to own and operate two convenience stores in Columbia, SC that failed to pay Appellant for deliveries of gasoline. As such, All partners of the Singh-Singh partnership should be jointly and severally liable for the unpaid invoices for gasoline delivered by Appellant.

Kabal Singh filed a lawsuit on January 3, 2013 in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas (Case number 2013-CP-40-0050) against the same Respondents named in this appeal (Shinda Singh, Shinda Singh, Inc. and Five Rivers, Inc.), "incorporating by reference" the Richland County pleadings into the Fairfield County case in his March 21, 2017 Amended Answer and Counterclaim to [Plaintiff's (Appellant's)] Third Amended Complaint. (R. pp. 188-200). Respondent's Answer, Counterclaim, and Third-Party Complaint in the Richland County case were admitted into evidence in the Fairfield County case by consent of the parties. (R. pp. 08-09, 201-206). Respondents detailed the terms of the oral Singh-Singh partnership (R. pp. 356 ln 12-25; 357 ln 1-25; 358 ln 2-16; 392 ln 9-25, 393 ln 1-13 (2019 Trial)) and made the following admissions.

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