RECEIVED

Mar 24 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
Court of Common Pleas
Fairfield County**

**The Honorable DeAndrea Gist Benjamin
Presiding Judge, South Carolina Business Court**

Case No. 2021-000944

**Blythewood Oil Co., Inc.
Appellant,**

vs.

**Shinda Singh, Five Rivers, Inc.,
and Singh, Inc.
Respondents.**

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

**s/Linda Z. Jackson
Jackson & Jackson
1415 Richland Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
SC Bar No. 2931
linbobjack@aol.com
Attorney for Respondents**

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENY APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO THE LIABILITY OF THE PARTNERSHIP FOR THE UNPAID INVOICES FOR GASOLINE DELIVERED BY THE APPELLANTS?

- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENY A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF APPELLANT AS IT PERTAINS TO ANY FAILURE BY THE RESPONDENTS TO NOTIFY APPELLANT OF ANY CHANGES OF OWNERSHIP, LEASE AGREEMENTS, OPERATIONAL CHANGES OR OTHERWISE TO EITHER HARDSCRABBLE OR PERCIVAL ROAD AM/PM STORES THROUGHOUT THEIR BUSINESS DEALINGS BETWEEN 2007 AND MARCH 2010 SUCH THAT IT WOULD MAKE RESPONDENTS AS A GENERAL PARTNER OF THE SINGH-SINGH PARTNERSHIP, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY LIABLE FOR THE UNPAID INVOICES FOR GASOLINE DELIVERED BY APPELLANT?

- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENY A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF APPELLANT AS IT PERTAINS TO THE LAW OF ESTOPPEL AND AGENCY PROHIBITING THE RESPONDENTS FROM ASSERTING ANY DEFENSE TO PAYMENT OF FUNDS OWED TO BLYTHEWOOD OIL FOR UNPAID GASOLINE DELIVERED TO THE HARDSCRABBLE AND PERCIVAL ROAD CONVENIENCE STORES?

- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDE THAT APPELLANT, BLYTHEWOOD OIL, INC. WAS NOT ENTITLED TO RECOVERY FROM THE RESPONDENTS PURSUANT TO A CLAIM OF UNJUST ENRICHMENT BASED UPON QUANTUM MERUIT, QUASI-CONTRACT OR IMPLIED CONTRACT BY LAW?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The dispute in this case centers around the complaint by the Appellant regarding nonpayment for gasoline it delivered to two convenience stores located in Columbia, South Carolina. Respondent Five Rivers, Inc. owns one of the stores which is located at 2409 Percival Road in Columbia, South Carolina. Respondent Singh, Inc. owns the other store, which is located at 4225 Hardscrabble Road in Columbia. Shinda Singh is the sole shareholder of both corporations

In October 2008, Five Rivers, Inc. leased the Percival Road property to Gill and Gas, LLC. Gurpreet Singh (also known as Jessie Singh) signed the lease as President of that corporation. At the same time, Singh, Inc. leased the Hardscrabble Road property to Gill and Gas No. 2, LLC. Gurpreet Singh signed the lease as President of that corporation.

On March 18, 2009, Jessie Singh signed a Credit Application provided by the Appellant for the purchase of gasoline from the Appellant for delivery to the Percival Road Store and guaranteed payment for the gasoline. On March 18, 2009, Jessie Singh signed a credit Application provided by the Appellant for the purchase of gasoline from the Appellant for delivery to the Hardscrabble Road store and guaranteed payment for the gasoline.

At some time after Jessie Singh leased the stores and signed the credit applications, he failed to pay the invoices from the Appellant for gasoline delivered and even wrote bad checks to the Appellant.

On July 2, 2014, Appellant filed a Third Amended Complaint in this case against a number of Defendants alleging their liability for the non-payment of gasoline delivered to Jessie Singh. Most of the Defendants were removed from the case pursuant to an agreement with the Appellant. The remaining Defendants that were subject to a jury trial were Shinda Singh, Five Rivers, Inc., Singh, Inc., A.M. P.M. Foodmart, Inc. and A.M. P.M. Foodmart, Inc., No. 2.

Initially, the case was tried on November 2017 before a jury on the following causes of action: (1) negligent misrepresentation; (2) unjust enrichment based on quantum meruit, quasi contract, or implied by law contract; (3) breach of contract; (4) breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act; and (5) fraud. On November 16, 2017, the jury found in favor of the Defendants on all causes of action except for one. There was a mistrial on the cause of action for unjust enrichment based on quantum meruit, quasi contract, or implied by law contract. Subsequently, the parties requested, and the Court agreed to hear the case as a non-jury trial.

This matter came before the Court on September 23, 2019 for a non-jury trial by consent of the parties in the above-captioned matter. In a non-jury action, the Court's findings are equivalent to a jury's findings in an action at law. Rule 52(a), S.C.R. Civ. P. instructs a Court in an action tried without a jury to "find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon..."

Present at the September 2019 non-jury trial before Judge DeAndrea Benjamin were Tony R. Megna, attorney for the Appellant, and Linda Jackson, attorney for the Respondents. Appellant's representative, Larry Sharpe, II, as corporate director of the company, and the Respondents, Shinda Singh, Individually, and as President of Singh, Inc.

and Five Rivers, Inc. and a witness, Parmjit “Goldy” Singh, were also present. Prior to trial, the parties agreed to remove A.M. P.M. Foodmart, Inc. and A.M. P.M. Foodmart, Inc., No. 2 as Defendants. The Court thus modified the caption to reflect the remaining parties to the lawsuit, Blythewood Oil Co., Inc. as Plaintiff and Shinda Singh, Five Rivers, Inc., and Singh, Inc. as Defendants.

Appellant’s trial Exhibits 1-12 as well as Respondents’ trial Exhibits 1-4 were entered into evidence without objection, and with the consent of the parties. The Exhibits were electronically filed by the Clerk of Court on September 23, 2019. Both parties made Motions for a Directed Verdict at the close of the Appellant’s case, which were denied by this Court. After presentation of all evidence by the parties, both Appellant and Respondents renewed their motions for verdicts based on the evidence presented at the September 23, 2019 trial. The Court took all motions under advisement. This Court reviewed applicable law, arguments of counsel, and the evidence presented by both parties at the September 23, 2019 trial. See Rule 15(b), S.C.R.Civ.P. (issues not raised by the pleadings but tried by consent of the parties shall be treated as if they had been raised in the pleadings). By Order filed July 17, 2020, the Court found that the Appellant was not entitled to recovery from the Respondents pursuant to a claim of unjust enrichment based on quantum meruit, quasi-contract, or implied by law contract. On July 27, 2020, counsel for the Appellant filed a Rule 59(e) Motion for Reconsideration to Alter or Amend Judgment on behalf of Blythewood Oil. However, counsel did not file the motion upon the Court. The Court filed an Amended Order on July 20, 2021. Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal of the Amended Order on August 27, 2021 and filed its initial Brief on February 25, 2022.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried by a jury, the jurisdiction of this Court extends to the correction of errors of law. Factual findings of the jury are disregarded when a review of the record discloses that there is no evidence which reasonable supports the jury's findings. *Odom v. Weathersbee*, 225 S.C. 253 (1954). In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonable supports the judge's findings. The rule is the same whether the judge's findings are made with or without a reference. The judge's findings are equivalent to a jury's findings in a law action. *Chapman v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 263 SC 565 (1975).” *Townes Assocs. v. City of Greenville*, 266 SC 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The evidence shows that Shinda Singh had a verbal partnership with Kabal Singh regarding the purchase of two convenience stores. (Doc. 1-Shinda Singh 2019 Trial Testimony, p. 60). Initially, Kabal Singh, a former Defendant in this case, and another individual were going to buy the stores but they could not get a bank loan. Shinda Singh offered and did obtain loans from First Citizens Bank to purchase the properties. (Doc. 1-Shinda Singh 2019 Trial Testimony, pp. 60-61).

In September of 2007, Shinda Singh, in the corporate capacity of President, bought two convenience stores. The first store, located at 4225 Hardscrabble Road, was purchased by Singh, Inc. (Doc. 8-Deed for 4225 Hardscrabble Road-2019 Trial: Plaintiff's Exhibit 10). The second store, located as 2409 Percival Road, was purchased by Five Rivers, Inc. (Doc. 9-Deed for 2409 Percival Road-2019 Trial: Plaintiff's Exhibit 9). Shinda Singh is the sole shareholder of both corporations. (Doc. 1-Shinda Singh 2019 Trial Testimony, p. 61).

From April 2007 until October 2008, Kabal Singh and his son Gurpreet Singh (Jessie), former Defendants in this case, ran the convenience store businesses at the two locations.

Blythewood Oil Co., Inc., delivered gasoline to the Hardscrabble Road and Percival Road convenience stores from the time the convenience stores opened in 2007 until the last delivery of gasoline to the stores occurring in January 2010.

On October 2, 2008, Five Rivers, Inc. entered into a Commercial Lease

Agreement, as the Landlord, with Gill and Gas, LLC, as the Tenant, for the lease of the real property located at 2409 Percival Road; Jessie Singh signed the Lease as President of Gill and Gas, LLC. (Doc. 2-2019 Trial: Plaintiff's Exhibit 7). On October 2, 2008, Singh, Inc. entered into a Commercial Lease Agreement, as the Landlord, with Gill and Gas No. 2, LLC, as the Tenant, for the lease of the real property located at 4225 Hardscrabble Road; Jessie Singh signed the Lease as President of Gill and Gas No. 2, LLC. (Doc. 3-2019 Trial: Plaintiff's Exhibit 8). Both leases were effective on November 1, 2008. The above-referenced leases did not contain language regarding liability concerning the receipt of gasoline. Defendant Shinda Singh did not provide Blythewood Oil with copies of, nor any notice, of the leases. At trial, when Shinda Singh was asked if he gave copies of leases to vendors who supply services and gas and whatever to the store, his response was, "No." (Doc. 1-Shinda Singh-2019 Trial Testimony, pp. 64-65).

On March 18, 2009, Jessie Singh signed a Confidential Commercial/Wholesale Credit Application provided by the Appellant for the purchase of gasoline from the plaintiff for delivery to 2409 Percival Road, Columbia, SC 29223, and guaranteed payment for gasoline. (Doc. 4-2019 Trial: Defendants' Exhibit 2). On March 18, 2009, Jessie Singh signed a Confidential Commercial/Wholesale Credit Application provided by Blythewood Oil for the purchase of gasoline from the Plaintiff for delivery to 4229 Hardscrabble Road, Columbia, SC 29223 and guaranteed payment for the gasoline. (Doc. 5-2019 Trial: Defendants' Exhibit 1). All gasoline was paid for in a timely manner through October 2008, and June 2009.

Appellant received multiple bad checks from Jessie Singh and encountered problems with Jessie Singh paying for the gasoline delivered beginning in July 2009.

Appellant presented as evidence the remaining invoices for delivery of gasoline to the Hardscrabble Road and Percival Road convenience stores that were unpaid. Appellant continued to deliver gasoline to the Percival Road and Hardscrabble locations through January of 2010.

In March of 2010, Appellant's representative contacted the S.C. Attorney General's Office about the bad checks from Jessie Singh and an investigation was done by Pete Logan. The Blythewood Oil company representative informed Mr. Logan that Jessie Singh wrote the bad checks from his bank account. (Doc. 12-Larry Sharpe, II-2019 Trial: Testimony, pp. 39-40). The Company representative also admitted that the Plaintiff did not have anything in writing stating that Shinda Singh, Singh, Inc., Five Rivers, Inc., or a partnership were liable for the gas delivered to Jessie Singh and his businesses. (Doc. 12-Larry Sharpe, II-2019 Trial Testimony, p. 42). At no time prior to March 2010 did the Appellant notify Shinda Singh, either individually or as President of Singh, Inc., Five Rivers, Inc., or any partnership that Jessie Singh and his businesses owed large sums of money to the Plaintiff for gasoline that was delivered and that Respondents were responsible for Jessie Singh's debt. (Doc. 12-Larry Sharpe, II-2019 Trial: Testimony, p. 38) (Doc. 1-Shinda Singh-2019 Trial: Testimony, pp. 65-66).

When Larry Sharpe, II was asked at trial on cross-examination if Gurpreet Singh (Jessie Singh) was who Plaintiff was looking to, he answered, "He signed the application." (Doc. 12-Larry Sharpe, II-2010 Trial: Testimony, p. 37).

ISSUE I - ARGUMENT

Appellant contends that the trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict in favor of the Appellant as to the liability of the 2007 partnership for the unpaid invoices for gasoline delivered by the Appellant to the convenience stores located on Hardscrabble Road and Percival Road.

By the end of the presentation of Appellant's case at the trial on September 23, 2019, Judge Benjamin had heard the testimony of Appellant's representative, Larry Sharpe, II, and had been presented with twelve (12) Exhibits submitted by the Appellant. Upon completion of Appellant's case, both parties made motions for a direct verdict which were denied. After all of the evidence was presented by both parties, the Judge found as a matter of fact and law that based upon the evidence in the case and the applicable law, Appellant was not entitled to recovery from the Respondents pursuant to a claim of unjust enrichment based on quantum meruit, quasi-contract or implied by law contract. In making her decision, Judge Benjamin provided the following findings of fact which are hereby incorporated herein as the Argument on Issue I: (Doc. 7-Judge Benjamin's Amended Order dated July 20, 2021).

FINDINGS OF FACT

- (1) In April 2007, Defendant Shinda Singh, Defendant Five Rivers, Inc., and Defendant Singh, Inc. together with Kabal Singh entered into a "verbal" partnership to operate two convenience stores in Columbia, S.C.;

- (2) Initially, Kabal Singh, a former Defendant in this case, and another individual were going to buy the stores but they could not get a bank loan;
- (3) Shinda Singh, in his corporate capacity, offered to and did obtain loans from First Citizens Bank to purchase the properties;
- (4) The first store (located at 4225 Hardscrabble Road), was purchased in September 2007 by Singh, Inc. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, paragraph 22) (*Doc. 8-Appeal*). The second store (located at 2409 Percival Road) was purchased in September 2007 by Five Rivers, Inc. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, paragraph 20)(*Doc. 9-Appeal*);
- (5) Due to Kabal Singh's inability to secure a loan, Shinda Singh is the sole shareholder of Singh, Inc. and Five Rivers, Inc.;
- (6) Blythewood Oil Co., Inc., delivered gasoline to the Hardscrabble Road and Percival Road convenience stores from the time the convenience stores opened in 2007 until the last delivery of gasoline to the stores occurring in January 2010;
- (7) From April 2007 until October 2008, Kabal Singh and his son Gurpreet Singh (hereafter Jessie), a former Defendant in this case, ran the convenience store businesses at the two locations;
- (8) On October 2, 2008, Five Rivers, Inc. entered into a Commercial Lease Agreement, as the Landlord, with Gill and Gas, LLC, as the Tenant, for the lease of the real property located at 2409 Percival Road; Jessie Singh signed the Lease as President of Gill and Gas, LLC evidenced by Plaintiff exhibit 7 (*Doc. 2-Appeal*);

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